**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court**

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 01 2024**

---

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Honorable Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000997

Case No. 2024-CP-40-00762

---

PLANNED PARENTHOOD SOUTH ATLANTIC, on behalf of itself, its patients, and its physicians and staff; KATHERINE FARRIS, M.D., on behalf of herself and her patients; TAYLOR SHELTON,.....*Appellants,*

v.

## INTRODUCTION

In *Planned Parenthood South Atlantic v. State*, 440 S.C. 465, 892 S.E.2d 121 (2023), *reh’g denied* (Aug. 29, 2023) (“*Planned Parenthood II*”), this Court ruled that Senate Bill 474, 125th Gen. Assemb., Spec. Sess. (S.C. 2023) (“S.B. 474” or the “Act”), a ban on abortion after the detection of a so-called “fetal heartbeat,” does not violate the right to privacy guaranteed by article I, section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. In the present case, filed at the invitation of this Court,<sup>1</sup> Appellants raise only a narrow question of statutory interpretation left open by this Court in *Planned Parenthood II*: at what point in pregnancy does a “[f]etal heartbeat” as defined in the Act occur? *Planned Parenthood II*, 440 S.C. at 474 n.4, 892 S.E.2d at 126 n.4.

Careful parsing of the plain text of the Act permits only one answer. Under the Act’s definitions, a “[f]etal heartbeat” can only be present after approximately nine weeks of pregnancy because “cardiac activity, or the steady and repetitive rhythmic contraction of the fetal heart, within the gestational sac,” S.B. 474, § 2(6) (amending S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-610(6)), does not occur until then. The Act also says that “[c]ardiac activity begins . . . when the fetal heart is formed in the gestational sac.” *Id.*, § 1(2). While embryonic electrical activity is detectable after approximately six weeks of pregnancy, a heart does not form until later in pregnancy, after approximately nine weeks. Nor is that electrical activity steady, repetitive, and rhythmic until after approximately nine weeks. And it is uncontroverted that there is no “fetus” until after nine weeks of pregnancy, as at six weeks there is only an embryo. Without a fetus or a heart, there cannot be

---

<sup>1</sup> *Planned Parenthood II*, 440 S.C. at 474 n.4, 892 S.E.2d at 126 n.4 (“We leave for another day (in an as-applied constitutional challenge) . . . .”); Order, *Planned Parenthood II* (Aug. 29, 2023) (denying rehearing) (Beatty, C.J., dissenting) (“[N]othing prevents Respondents from expeditiously filing a new complaint asserting an as-applied challenge . . . .”); Order, *Planned Parenthood S. Atl. v. State*, No. 2023-001449 (S.C. Sup. Ct. Nov. 14, 2023) (denying petition for original jurisdiction and injunctive relief) (“The petition for original jurisdiction is otherwise denied without prejudice to Petitioners’ right to file an as-applied action in the circuit court.”).

a “[f]etal heartbeat” under the Act’s definitions. This interpretation of the words selected by the General Assembly is true to the text and refutes the Circuit Court’s conclusion that the statute is ambiguous.

Should the Court determine, however, that S.B. 474 is ambiguous, multiple canons of construction, including that of constitutional doubt and the rule of lenity, all lead to the conclusion that the Act applies only after a fetal heart has formed and its cardiac activity is steady, repetitive, and rhythmic. In the alternative, the Act is unconstitutionally vague, and this Court should adopt a limiting construction of it as applying only after approximately nine weeks of pregnancy.

Appellants thus request that this Court reverse the Circuit Court’s ruling and enter a preliminary injunction preventing the Act’s application to South Carolinians, like Taylor Shelton, with pregnancies from approximately six through nine weeks. Absent this relief, each person denied an abortion despite the absence of a fetal heartbeat as defined by the Act suffers irreparable harm, and collectively, this denial of abortion access to patients at the earliest stages of pregnancy, constitutes a public health crisis in South Carolina.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I.** Did the Circuit Court err in determining that S.B. 474 is ambiguous?
- II.** If the text and structure of S.B. 474 are ambiguous, did the Circuit Court err in resolving that ambiguity by considering statements of individual legislators and this Court’s dicta as sources of legislative intent in lieu of applying the canons of construction?
- III.** Did the Circuit Court err in finding that S.B. 474 is not unconstitutionally vague?
- IV.** Have Appellants satisfied the remaining preliminary injunction factors?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **I. S.B. 474 Bans Abortion After a “Fetal Heartbeat” Is Detected.**

S.B. 474 provides, with a few extremely narrow exceptions<sup>2</sup> inapplicable here, that “no person shall perform or induce an abortion on a pregnant woman with the specific intent of causing or abetting an abortion if the unborn child’s *fetal heartbeat* has been detected.” S.B. 474, § 2 (amending S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-630(B)) (emphasis added). The Act defines “[f]etal heartbeat” as “cardiac activity, or the steady and repetitive rhythmic contraction of the fetal heart, within the gestational sac.” *Id.* (amending S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-610(6)). When enacting S.B. 474, the General Assembly specifically found: “Cardiac activity begins at a biologically identifiable moment in time, normally *when the fetal heart is formed* in the gestational sac.” *Id.*, § 1(2) (emphasis added).

Anyone who performs an abortion in violation of the Act is subject to severe criminal, civil, and licensure penalties. Violation of the statute is a felony offense punishable by a \$10,000 criminal fine, up to two years in prison, and revocation of professional licensure. *Id.*, § 2 (amending S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-41-630(B), 44-41-640(B), 44-41-650(C), 44-41-660(C), 44-41-690).

### **II. Relevant Legislative and Litigation History**

S.B. 474 took immediate effect when Governor McMaster signed it into law on the morning of May 25, 2023. South Carolina abortion providers, including Planned Parenthood South Atlantic and Dr. Katherine Farris, filed suit in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas the same day and were granted a preliminary injunction on May 26, 2023. Thereafter the Supreme Court accepted the case.

---

<sup>2</sup> See S.B. 474, § 2 (amending S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-41-640 (medical emergency), 44-41-610(9) (defining “[m]edical emergency”)), 44-41-650 (rape or incest), 44-41-660 (fatal fetal condition)).

At oral argument in *Planned Parenthood II*, Justice Few asked whether “the steady and repetitive rhythmic contraction of the fetal heart” (the “Clause”) was intended to define or supplement the term “cardiac activity” based on the commas surrounding the Clause. However, in upholding the constitutionality of S.B. 474, this Court expressly reserved answering Justice Few’s question “for another day.” *Planned Parenthood II*, 440 S.C. at 474 n.4, 892 S.E.2d at 126 n.4; *see also id.*, 440 S.C. at 497, 892 S.E.2d at 139 (Beatty, C.J., dissenting) (“[I]t does not resolve the anomaly appearing on the face of the legislation regarding the timing of the ‘fetal heartbeat’ ban.”). This Court denied plaintiffs’ petition for rehearing. Order, *Planned Parenthood II* (Aug. 29, 2023). The same plaintiffs then filed a petition for original jurisdiction with this Court on September 14, 2023, again seeking to answer the unresolved question of statutory interpretation. This Court denied the petition for original jurisdiction and injunction. Order, *Planned Parenthood S. Atl.*, No. 2023-001449 (Nov. 14, 2023).

On February 5, 2024, Appellants Planned Parenthood South Atlantic (“PPSAT”), Dr. Katherine Farris, and Taylor Shelton filed this case in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas to address the statutory construction question identified by the Supreme Court and requested a preliminary injunction to block enforcement of S.B. 474 through approximately nine weeks of pregnancy. Following oral argument, the Circuit Court denied Appellants’ Motion; Appellants appealed; and the Supreme Court certified this case for review. Order (June 20, 2024).

### **III. Access to Abortion Under Prior South Carolina Law**

Appellants PPSAT and Dr. Farris provide sexual and reproductive health services, including abortion, in South Carolina. R. p. 114 ¶ 23. PPSAT runs two of the only three clinics in the state that provide abortion services to the public, in Columbia and Charleston. *Id.* at 114–16 ¶¶ 22, 28–29. They previously provided abortions through the end of the first trimester, which corresponds to fourteen weeks of pregnancy as measured from the first day of the last menstrual

period (“LMP”). S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-10(i); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-12.101(S)(4); App at 115–16 ¶¶ 25, 28–29.

Although patients generally obtain an abortion as soon as they are able, historically the vast majority of patients who seek abortions in South Carolina have been at least six weeks pregnant by the time they do so. App at 120 ¶ 46, 129 ¶ 70. Many of PPSAT and Dr. Farris’s patients seeking abortions do not know they are pregnant before six weeks LMP. *Id.* at 121–23, ¶¶ 47–53. Even those who do may face logistical challenges in arranging an abortion appointment. *Id.* at 125 ¶ 57, 127 ¶ 64. Many South Carolinians struggle to pay for an abortion, including because many forms of insurance do not cover abortion care or the associated travel and childcare costs. *Id.* at 126–27 ¶¶ 61–62, 64, 131 ¶ 78. Others are unable to take time off work. *Id.* at 126 ¶ 61. The difficulty of obtaining an abortion before six weeks LMP is especially pronounced in marginalized communities in South Carolina, including those living in poverty and Black and Hispanic women. *Id.* at 125–26 ¶¶ 60–61. Since the Act went into effect, the vast majority of PPSAT and Dr. Farris’s patients have been unable to access abortion in South Carolina. *Id.* at 112 ¶ 15, 130 ¶ 75.

#### **IV. Detection and Dating of Early Pregnancy and Development of the Cardiovascular System**

##### **A. Detection and Dating of Early Pregnancy**

Because the Act bans abortion at the earliest stages of pregnancy, Appellants briefly discuss pregnancy dating and the timing of ovulation, fertilization, and implantation. Pregnancies are commonly dated starting from the first day of a person’s last menstrual period (“LMP”), which is typically about two weeks (if not longer) prior to ovulation. *Id.* at 119 ¶ 41.

Pregnancy begins if and when an embryo implants in the uterine lining, a process that usually begins about six days after fertilization and takes roughly three to four days to complete. *Id.* ¶ 42. Implantation triggers the release of pregnancy hormones, preventing the uterine lining

from shedding and stopping the person's period. *Id.* A person with a highly regular, four week cycle would already be at least four weeks LMP when they could first realize their period is late. *Id.* at 121 ¶ 47. For someone with a longer or irregular menstrual cycle, the gestational age may be well beyond four weeks LMP by the time they could first realize they have missed their period. *See id.* at 121–22 ¶¶ 49–50. While a missed period may prompt someone to take a pregnancy test, someone with no reason to suspect a pregnancy is unlikely to do so. *See id.* at 121 ¶ 48.

On average, people do not know they are pregnant until between five and six weeks LMP. *Id.* at 122 ¶ 52. People are likely to be delayed in realizing that they are pregnant if they are using hormonal birth control, have long or irregular menstrual cycles, are younger, are living in or close to poverty, are less educated, or are breastfeeding. *Id.* at 122–23 ¶¶ 52–53.

A developing pregnancy is referred to as an “embryo” in the field of medicine through approximately nine weeks LMP, after which it becomes a “fetus.” *Id.* at 112 ¶ 11. Appellees' expert, Dr. Ingrid Skop, agrees, as she refers to the developing organism as an “embryo” at six weeks LMP. *See, e.g., id.* at 255 ¶ 15 (“embryonic heart”), 257 ¶ 18 (“[a]n embryo's heart”).

### **B. Gestational Development of the Cardiovascular System**

The human heart has four major components: four chambers, the walls separating them, the valves connecting them, and the conduction system. *Id.* at 156 ¶ 20. A heart is made of muscles, and electrical impulses cause the muscles to contract and send blood throughout the body. *Id.* at 154 ¶¶ 13–14. A heartbeat occurs when the heart muscles contract. *Id.* at 155 ¶ 17. The sound of a heartbeat—whether in a fully developed adult heart or in a developing fetal heart—is produced by the closing of the valves connecting the heart's chambers. *Id.* Thus, to have a heartbeat, a heart must have four chambers—which all experts in this case, as well as DHEC, agree cannot occur until after approximately nine weeks of pregnancy. *Id.* at 111 ¶ 10, 118 ¶ 36 (Farris), 157 ¶ 24,

158–59 ¶¶ 29–30, 32 (Crockett), 253–54 ¶¶ 11–12 (Skop recognizing that four chambers form at approximately ten weeks LMP).<sup>3</sup>

The earliest primitive cells that will develop into the heart aggregate around two tubular structures around about five weeks LMP. R. pp. 157 ¶ 27 (Crockett), 253 ¶ 11 (Skop). Cardiac muscle cells begin contracting asynchronously around this time and become visible as a “flicker” on ultrasound after approximately six weeks LMP, or in some cases as early as partway through the fifth week LMP. *Id.* at 115 ¶ 27 (Farris), 158–59 ¶¶ 27, 31 (Crockett); *see id.* at 252–53 ¶ 8 (Skop). These electrical impulses constitute early embryonic electrical activity. At this early stage of pregnancy, however, the electrical activity is not organized into a coordinated heartbeat and will not be until after the development of the pacemaker and conduction system—after approximately nine weeks LMP. *Id.* at 159 ¶¶ 31–32. In other words, any embryonic electrical activity visible at this point, while “repetitive,” is neither “steady” nor “rhythmic.” *See* S.B. 474, § 2 (amending S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-610(6)). The term “heartbeat” is a misnomer because a cardiovascular system has yet to develop at this point. R. p. 110 ¶ 7.<sup>4</sup> Dr. Skop agrees that embryonic electrical activity begins around five to six weeks LMP, but contends, in contravention of the medical consensus and without citation, that embryonic electrical activity is steady, repetitive, and rhythmic at these early stages. *Id.* at 255 ¶ 15, 257 ¶ 18. As discussed *infra* at 13–16, this Court should discredit Dr. Skop’s testimony.

From approximately six through nine weeks LMP, the chambers, walls, and valves of the developing organ will continue to form, R. pp. 158–59 ¶¶ 28–30 (Crockett), 253 ¶ 11 (Skop), and

---

<sup>3</sup> S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control (“DHEC”), *Embryonic & Fetal Development*, <https://scdhec.gov/sites/default/files/Library/ML-017049.pdf> (last visited July 26, 2024).

<sup>4</sup> Furthermore, this early embryonic electrical activity cannot be heard as a heartbeat can. Instead, at this early gestational age, it is the ultrasound machine itself that converts these electrical impulses into sound. R. p. 158 ¶ 27.

the medical consensus is that the four main components of a heart (four chambers, walls, valves, and conduction system) are formed after approximately nine weeks LMP. *Id.* at 111 ¶ 10 (Farris), 153 ¶ 11, 158–59 ¶¶ 30, 32 (Crockett); *see id.* at 253–54 ¶¶ 11–12 (Skop).<sup>5</sup> The South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control agrees, stating that “the basic parts of . . . the heart [have] formed” by nine to ten weeks LMP.<sup>6</sup> In other words, it is only after approximately nine weeks LMP that a fetal heart has formed.

Appellants use the term “after approximately nine weeks LMP” as a conservative estimate of when the fetal heart has formed and its cardiac activity is steady and rhythmic, acknowledging that heart development can continue through ten weeks LMP, consistent with the State’s materials. *See id.* at 158–59 ¶ 30 (noting that cardiac septation is completed at approximately ten weeks LMP). Referring to the gestational age “after approximately nine weeks LMP” means up to and including nine weeks, six days LMP. It thus measures until the point at which an embryo becomes a fetus at ten weeks LMP.

#### **V. Since Going into Effect, S.B. 474 Has Negatively Affected South Carolina Physicians and Public Health.**

Since going into effect, the Act has negatively impacted PPSAT, its staff and physicians, including Dr. Farris, and its patients, including Ms. Shelton. Because of uncertainty as to when S.B. 474’s abortion ban begins to apply, the Circuit Court’s interpretation of the Act and denial of a preliminary injunction, and the harsh penalties the Act imposes, PPSAT and Dr. Farris have had no choice but to stop providing abortions as soon as embryonic electrical activity can be detected by ultrasound—after approximately six weeks LMP (and sometimes sooner).

---

<sup>5</sup> Physicians and scientists may use different verbiage in talking about cardiac development at different stages of pregnancy. For example, some may use the term “heartbeat” to refer to early embryonic electrical activity. *Id.* at 159 ¶ 32. This case concerns the definition of “[f]etal heartbeat” as defined in the Act.

<sup>6</sup> DHEC, *supra* note 3 at 6.

As a result, PPSAT has been forced to turn away the vast majority of patients seeking abortions. From August 23, 2023, when the Act went into effect, until January 31, 2024, out of 1,209 patients who made abortion appointments at its South Carolina health centers, PPSAT was able to provide only 303 abortions in South Carolina. *Id.* at 130 ¶ 75. In other words, PPSAT turned away approximately 75% of patients seeking abortions at their South Carolina clinics—and that does not even count the patients who did not schedule abortion appointments because they knew they were likely past six weeks LMP. *Id.* Of the 906 patients turned away, 778 (about 86%) had pregnancies that were nine weeks LMP or less. *Id.*<sup>7</sup> Compared to the same period the prior year, PPSAT was able to provide less than 17% of the abortions it did before the Act went into effect. *Id.*

Appellant Taylor Shelton is among those who did not ultimately schedule an abortion appointment. Ms. Shelton learned that she was pregnant on September 7, 2023, shortly after the Act went into effect. *Id.* at 186 ¶ 4. She was shocked she was pregnant because she had an intrauterine device (“IUD”) in place and had confirmed with her gynecologist about a week earlier that the contraceptive device was still effective. *Id.* at 186–87 ¶ 5. Ms. Shelton has regular menstrual cycles, which she tracks, so she noticed quickly that she had missed her period. *Id.* at 186 ¶ 4. Two days after her missed period, she took two home pregnancy tests, both of which confirmed that she was pregnant. *Id.* Ms. Shelton was certain that she was not ready to have a child and that she wanted to have an abortion as soon as possible. *Id.* at 187 ¶ 6. Despite recognizing her

---

<sup>7</sup> PPSAT’s experience is consistent with a Guttmacher Institute report, which found that in the month after the Act went into effect, abortions decreased by 79%, from 750 statewide in August 2023, to 160 in September 2023. Kimya Forouzan, et al., *The High Toll of US Abortion Bans: Nearly One in Five Patients Now Traveling Out of State for Abortion Care*, Guttmacher Inst., [https://www.guttmacher.org/2023/12/high-toll-us-abortion-bans-nearly-one-five-patients-now-traveling-out-state-abortion-care?utm\\_source=Guttmacher+Email+Alerts&utm\\_campaign=9096c1e61d-December+provision+study&utm\\_medium=email&utm\\_term=0\\_-b00c00d20f-%5BLIST\\_EMAIL\\_ID%5D](https://www.guttmacher.org/2023/12/high-toll-us-abortion-bans-nearly-one-five-patients-now-traveling-out-state-abortion-care?utm_source=Guttmacher+Email+Alerts&utm_campaign=9096c1e61d-December+provision+study&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_-b00c00d20f-%5BLIST_EMAIL_ID%5D) (Dec. 7, 2023).

pregnancy very early and quickly deciding that abortion was the right choice for her, Ms. Shelton was unable to schedule an appointment with one of the abortion providers in South Carolina before her pregnancy would have reached six weeks LMP. *Id.* ¶ 8. Instead, she was forced to travel out of state to get an abortion, ultimately making three trips to North Carolina—including one to a deceptive anti-abortion center—driving a total of twenty hours. *Id.* at 187–88 ¶¶ 10–12, 189 ¶¶ 15–16.<sup>8</sup> Ms. Shelton had the support of her loved ones and the resources to travel out of state and to pay for an abortion. *Id.* at 189 ¶ 17. On September 23, 2023 at PPSAT’s Wilmington, North Carolina health center, Ms. Shelton had an aspiration abortion when she was roughly six weeks, four days LMP. *Id.* ¶ 16. If there was a legally binding interpretation that the Act applied only after approximately nine weeks LMP, rather than at six weeks LMP, Ms. Shelton would have been able to access abortion in South Carolina.

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