THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Aug 30 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000997

Case No. 2024-CP-40-00762

PLANNED PARENTHOOD SOUTH ATLANTIC, on behalf of itself, its patients, and its physicians and staff; KATHERINE FARRIS, M.D., on behalf of herself and her patients; TAYLOR SHELTON, *Appellants*,

v.

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

Creech, 200 S.C. 127, 20 S.E.2d at 652 (emphasis added).

Moving beyond the plain meaning rule, if a court concludes that a statute’s text is ambiguous, it may look to “legislative history in order to effectuate the purpose of the statute.” *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 106, 744 S.E.2d 566, 573 (2013). It may also resort to other

canons of statutory construction. *See Lester v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n*, 334 S.C. 557, 561, 514 S.E.2d 751, 753 (1999).

In short, the intent of the legislature is relevant to nearly every aspect of statutory construction.

B. The 2023 Act

This case is somewhat unique in that the intent of the General Assembly in this case is clear. The General Assembly intended to generally prohibit most abortions once cardiac activity is detectable at approximately six weeks of pregnancy.

The legislative history of the act is uniform and unambiguous in describing the act as a six-week ban. And tellingly, both proponents and opponents of the act described it and treated it as such. As noted above, legislators consistently referred to the Act as a six-week ban in both floor debates and committee debates. *See, e.g.*, Senate Journal, Gen. Assemb., 125th Session (Feb. 9, 2023), available at <https://tinyurl.com/59k29x8a>; *see also* S.C. Senate, Video of Floor Proceedings (May 23, 2023), available at <https://tinyurl.com/48tdxztm>. S.C. Senate, Video of Floor Proceedings (Feb. 9, 2023), available at <https://tinyurl.com/48tdxztm>; S.C. House, Video of Floor Proceedings Part 1 (May 16, 2023), available at <https://tinyurl.com/48tdxztm>; S.C. House, Video of Floor Proceedings Part 2 (May 16, 2023), available at <https://tinyurl.com/3keb3de4>.

The Circuit Court made findings regarding this history, collectively citing over twenty references to the act as a six-week ban in the legislative history. (R. pp. 17–18). And despite Appellants' argument to the contrary, these pre-enactment statements are relevant evidence of legislative intent. *See Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Sys.*, 345 S.C. 339, 350 n.12, 549 S.E.2d 243, 248 n.12 (2001) (examining floor debates and discussion pertaining to the amendment); *see also Wehle v.*

Wehle v. S.C. Ret. Sys., 363 S.C. 394, 408, 611 S.E.2d 240, 247 (2005) (looking to presence or absence of floor debate as indicative of legislative intent).

Further, the Circuit Court noted that it could not “locate one instance of legislative history indicating a time frame of any other than the six-week mark, much less nine weeks.” (R. p. 17). The absence of such legislative history is also powerful evidence of legislative intent. *See Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Sys.*, 345 S.C. 339, 348, 549 S.E.2d 243, 247 (2001) (“The most powerful indication of legislative intent is the lack of legislative history and debate which accompanied the adoption of [the statute].”).

This clear legislative intent may be enough to settle and end this case. *See Greenville Baseball*, 200 S.C. 363, 20 S.E.2d at 815; *see also Bruner*, 188 S.C. 75, 198 S.E. at 188.

But regardless of whatever statutory analysis this Court engages in, the answer is the same: this Court’s statutory analysis must be guided by the General Assembly’s intent to generally prohibit abortion after six weeks of pregnancy.

1. Plain Meaning Rule

Beginning with a plain meaning analysis, the 2023 Act generally prohibits abortion after the detection of a fetal heartbeat. The act defines fetal heartbeat to mean “cardiac activity, or the steady and repetitive rhythmic contraction of the fetal heart, within the gestational sac.” 2023 Act, § 2, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-610(6).³

Although cardiac activity is undefined in the act, it does have a clear and definite meaning. Cardiac activity begins at an identifiable moment in time during pregnancy—at approximately six weeks. (R. pp. 250–257). Courts from around the country—including courts in South Carolina—

³ The act defines gestational sac to mean “the structure that comprises the extraembryonic membranes that envelop the unborn child and that is typically visible by ultrasound after the fourth week of pregnancy.” 2023 Act, § 2, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-610(8).

have made findings to this effect. *See Whole Woman's Health v. Jackson*, 141 S. Ct. 2494 (2021); *see also Planned Parenthood S. Atl. v. Wilson*, 26 F.4th 600, 606 (4th Cir. 2022), *vacated*, No. 21-1369, 2022 WL 2900658 (4th Cir. July 21, 2022).

Even more importantly, however, the General Assembly understood the phrase cardiac activity to have this exact meaning. And as previously discussed, it is the General Assembly's understanding of the meaning of the word that matters—not a court's understanding or a technical understanding. *See Oliver*, 16 S.C. at 52.

The clause following cardiac activity, “or the steady and repetitive rhythmic contraction of the fetal heart,” refers to the same point in time—approximately six weeks of pregnancy. This is true for at least three reasons.

First, “fetal heart” is a variation of a defined term in the statute—namely “fetal heartbeat.” And any variation of that term should be given the same definition. *See Steele v. State*, 22 S.W.3d 550, 554 (Tex. Ct. App. 2000) (“The code’s definition . . . applies to each of that word’s grammatical variations . . .”). Relatedly, the definition of “[f]atal fetal anomaly” includes anomalies found in the “unborn child,” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-610(5), and “unborn child” is defined to be “an individual organism of the species homo sapiens *from conception until live birth*,” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-610(14) (emphasis added). Thus, “fetal heart” should be interpreted to mean the unborn child’s cardiac system.

Second, even if this Court declines to apply that definition, the ordinary and popular meaning of the term, as understood by the General Assembly, should control. As noted above, the General Assembly understood fetal heartbeat to refer to embryonic cardiac activity.

Popular press accounts confirm this understanding of the popular meaning of the 2023 Act. *See Patterson v. State*, 2021 UT 52, ¶ 134, 504 P.3d 92, 121 (2023) (looking to contemporary

newspaper articles to determine the original public meaning of the text); Grant Darwin, *Originalism and Same-Sex Marriage*, 16 U. PA. J.L. & SOC. CHANGE 237, 252 (2013) (describing the press as “often a strong indicator of public meaning.”). A wide range of news outlets described the 2023 Act as a six-week abortion ban. For example, *The New York Times* described the act as such in a May 2023 news story. See Kate Zernike and Ava Sasani, “South Carolina Senate Passes 6-Week Abortion Ban,” *The New York Times* (May 23, 2023), available at <https://tinyurl.com/mrrrydwa>.

Third, and to the extent medical opinion is relevant, Dr. Skop’s report states that “fetal heart” has a different plain meaning in the medical community than Appellants suggest.⁴ In her declaration, Dr. Skop notes that a “fetal heart” forms by six weeks of pregnancy and that the unborn child’s heart contracts steadily, repetitively, and rhythmically at that time. (R. p. 257, ¶ 18) (“The science is clear: An embryo’s heart is beating steadily, repetitively, and rhythmically—and functioning as a heart to circulate oxygen-rich blood throughout the preborn body—by the time the heartbeat can be detected around 6 weeks LMP.”).

Dr. Skop explained in her report:

While it is true, as Dr. Crockett stated, that the four chambers of the heart are not developed until the 9th week LMP, there is no medical consensus that a heart only exists when it has four chambers. In fact, a “heart” is defined as an organ which “continuously pumps oxygen and nutrient-rich blood throughout your body to sustain life.” This is precisely what an embryonic heart does from even before the time it can be detected by ultrasound technology. As a board-certified obstetrician

⁴ The State contests Appellants’ description of Dr. Skop’s reliability. Dr. Skop has been cited by and relied upon by courts from around the country. See, e.g., *All. for Hippocratic Med. v. U.S. Food & Drug Admin.*, 78 F.4th 210, 222 (5th Cir.). Further, the issues of reliability and admissibility of Dr. Skop’s report are not properly before this Court on the appeal of a denial of a preliminary injunction motion. See *Univ. of Texas v. Camenisch*, 451 U.S. 390, 395 (1981) (“[A] preliminary injunction is customarily granted on the basis of procedures that are less formal and evidence that is less complete than in a trial on the merits.”). In any event, as explained herein, principles of statutory construction compel the conclusion that the 2023 Act is a general prohibition on abortion even absent Dr. Skop’s declaration.

practicing over thirty years, I can attest this heartbeat can usually be detected around 6-weeks LMP. The doppler reflects the movement of blood within the contracting heart, that is, the embryonic “heartbeat.”

(R. pp. 254–255, ¶¶ 12, 13). She explained further:

The key question in confirming the presence of cardiac activity is not, “When is the heart developmentally complete? but, “When does it perform the function of a heart?” Although the embryonic heart has not yet reached its final shape, electrical impulses generated by the cardiac conduction system cause muscular contractions to propel oxygen-carrying blood cells throughout the embryo’s body beginning in the 6th week of gestation. These rhythmic contractions are not haphazard, but regular and repetitive, and if the heartbeat were to cease, the unborn child would die. The electrical impulses that can be detected by ultrasound at 6 weeks LPM correspond directly with these contractions of the embryonic heart (i.e., heartbeat).

(R. p. 255, ¶ 15).

Appellants themselves appear to agree at least in part with Dr. Skop, conceding that physicians and scientists may use the term heartbeat differently than they do. (R. p. 90 n.4) (“Physicians and scientist may use different verbiage in talking about cardiac development at different stages of pregnancy. For example, some may use the term ‘heartbeat’ to refer to early embryonic electrical activity. However, the medical consensus is that the four main components of the hear (four chambers, walls, valves, and conduction system) form after approximately nine weeks LMP.”). This concession highlights the distinction between the ordinary and popular meaning of the term fetal heartbeat and the purportedly technical meaning Appellants now advance. *See City of Charleston*, 16 S.C. at 52.

2. Legislative Intent

Moving beyond the plain meaning rule, if this Court concludes that the Act’s definition of fetal heartbeat is ambiguous, it may consider legislative intent to conclude that the act generally prohibits abortion at approximately six weeks of pregnancy. *See Limehouse*, 404 S.C. at 106, 744 S.E.2d at 573; *see also Kennedy*, 345 S.C. at 348, 549 S.E.2d at 247 (“Therefore, since the plain

language of the statute lends itself to two equally logical interpretations, this Court must apply the rules of statutory interpretation to resolve the ambiguity and to discover the intent of the General Assembly. Where the language of an act gives rise to doubt or uncertainty as to legislative intent, the construing court may search for that intent beyond the borders of the act itself.”).

This Court previously explained:

As has been well said, “in interpreting an ambiguous statute the question is what the words meant to those using them, and to ascertain this the courts should examine the statute in the light of the history of its enactment, the contemporary history of the conditions and situation of the people, the economic and sociological policy of the state, its Constitution and laws, and all other matters of common knowledge within the limits of their jurisdiction.”

Crescent Mfg. Co. v. Tax Comm’n, 129 S.C. 480, 124 S.E. 761, 767 (1924) (quoting 25 R.C.L. 1029, § 265).

And as discussed above, and as the Circuit Court properly concluded, the legislative history of the 2023 Act uniformly suggests that the General Assembly intended to generally prohibit abortions after six weeks of pregnancy. (R. pp. 17–18).

3. Other Canons

Further, the “whole text” canon supports the proposition that the 2023 Act is generally a six-week prohibition on most abortions. *See S. Mut. Church Ins. Co. v. S.C. Windstorm & Hail Underwriting Ass’n*, 306 S.C. 339, 342, 412 S.E.2d 377, 379 (1991) (“Clearly, words in a statute must be construed in context.”). As discussed above, another provision of the 2023 Act uses the term fetus or fetal to refer to an unborn child at any stage of development. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-610(5) (defining fatal fetal anomaly). This provision indicates that the General Assembly intended to use the word “fetus” or “fetal” to refer to the unborn child generally. Consequently, fetal heartbeat would be defined as cardiac activity, or the steady and repetitive rhythmic contraction of the unborn child’s heart, within the gestational sac. As explained by Dr. Skop in her

report, the unborn child’s heart first forms at approximately six weeks of pregnancy and performs the function of a heart at that point in time. (R. p. 255, ¶ 15)

The legislative finding that “[c]ardiac activity begins at a biological identifiable moment in time, normally when the fetal heart is formed in the gestational sac” does not compel a contrary result. *See* 2023 Act, § 1(2). First, the words used in the legislative finding must be given their ordinary and popular meaning as used by the General Assembly. *See Oliver*, 16 S.C. at 52. And as discussed above, the General Assembly understood both “fetal heart” and “fetal heartbeat” to refer to cardiac activity at approximately six weeks of pregnancy. Second, and as just explained, the whole text cannon indicates that a reference to “fetal heart” should be construed to mean the unborn child’s heart. Consequently, the legislative finding merely reinforces the argument that the General Assembly intended to prohibit most abortions at a single point in time once cardiac activity is detectable at approximately six weeks of pregnancy.⁵

The rule of lenity does not lead to a different result. Because no “genuine ambiguity” exists after this Court applies its usual rules of statutory construction. *See Bryant v. State*, 384 S.C. 525, 533, 683 S.E.2d 280, 284 (2009). For the reasons discussed above, multiple rules of statutory construction lead to the same unambiguous answer: the 2023 Act generally prohibits most abortions at a single point in time once cardiac activity is detectable at approximately six weeks of pregnancy.

⁵ The Act’s definition of “gestational sac” is consistent with this interpretation, defined as “the structure that comprises the extraembryonic membranes that envelop the unborn child and that is typically visible by ultrasound after the fourth week of pregnancy.” 2023 Act, 2023 Act, § 2, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-41-610(8).

Nor does the constitutional doubt canon lend support to Appellant’s theory, as this Court has already upheld the constitutionality of the 2023 Act. *See Planned Parenthood S. Atl. v. State*, 440 S.C. 465, 892 S.E.2d 121 (2023), *reh’g denied* (Aug. 29, 2023).

Despite all of this, Appellants insist that a true fetal heartbeat only occurs after nine weeks of pregnancy, citing their own declarants’ understanding of “medical consensus.” (R. p. 41, ¶ 7); *see* Appellants’ Brief at 17–18. This is, according to Appellants, largely because the General Assembly deliberately chose to use the terms fetus or fetal in the Act. Appellants’ Brief at 18.

But Appellants’ argument contradicts itself. While Appellants insist that a true fetal heartbeat does not occur until nine weeks of pregnancy, they also maintain that an embryo does not become a fetus until approximately ten weeks of pregnancy. (R. p. 112, ¶ 11) (noting that the term fetus is not used until after ten weeks of pregnancy); *see* Appellants’ Brief at 20. Thus, their nine-week fetal heartbeat argument, purportedly based on “medical consensus,” contains an internal contradiction, as according to their own definitions, it would be medically inaccurate to refer to an unborn child as a fetus at nine weeks of pregnancy. This contradiction is reason enough alone to reject Appellants’ definitional arguments.

Given the foregoing, this Court should reject Appellants’ novel nine-week theory and declare that the 2023 Act’s definition of “fetal heartbeat” refers to a single moment in time once cardiac activity is detectable at approximately six weeks of pregnancy.

II. The 2023 Act is Constitutional.

Appellants also argue that the 2023 Act is unconstitutionally vague because “it could be read as prohibiting abortion at two different points in pregnancy.” (R. p. 70, ¶ 121). As an initial matter, Appellants likely lack standing to assert this type of vagueness challenge because their own conduct is clearly proscribed by the statute. (R. p. 112, ¶ 14) (noting that Appellant Farris treated

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